Psychosocial risk prevention – strategies and legislation | Croatia

National report





Authors: Hana Brborović – University of Zagreb, School of Medicine, Department of Occupational Health and Sports Medicine

Project management: Julia Flintrop – European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA)

This country report was commissioned by the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA). Its contents, including any opinions and/or conclusions expressed, are those of the authors alone and do not necessarily reflect the views of EU-OSHA.

Neither the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work nor any person acting on behalf of the agency is responsible for the use that might be made of the following information.

© European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2025

Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

For any use or reproduction of photos or other material that is not under the copyright of the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, permission must be sought directly from the copyright holders.

Contents

1		Introduction		4	
2		Coun	try context	4	
	2.1	PSR t	trends at national level	4	
	2.2	Main	national stakeholders involved in OSH governance and PSR prevention	5	
3		Legislative and non-legislative measures			
	3.1	3.1 National legislative and strategic approaches to PSRs		7	
	3	.1.1	National PSR legislation	7	
	3	.1.2	Occupational diseases related to PSR exposure and mental health aspects	9	
	3	.1.3	National PSR strategy	10	
	3.2	.2 Measures supporting the implementation of PSR legislation		11	
	3.3	Impa	ct of the COVID-19 pandemic and digitalisation on approaches to PSRs	12	
	3.4	PSR prevention activities implemented by social partners			
4		Success factors and challenges addressing PSRs		14	
	4.1	1 Assessment of the impact of PSR measures on PSRs		14	
	4.2	Assessment of success factors and challenges		14	
5		Concl	lusions	16	
6		List of	f references	17	

1 Introduction

This report examines national approaches to work-related psychosocial risks (PSRs) in Croatia with a focus on legislative and non-legislative measures as well as success factors and challenges concerning the national and sectoral approaches taken to enhance PSR prevention. It is part of a larger study on the strategies and legislation on PSR prevention at work in a selection of EU Member States, namely Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Spain, Croatia and Austria.

Methodologically, this report relies on data gathered through desk research and semi-structured interviews. During September 2024, five interviews were conducted: one with the Croatian Institute of Public Health, one with the National Council of Safety at Work, one with a representative of an employers' association and two with OSH experts. To ensure confidentiality, only the names of organisations are disclosed when explicit consent was provided.

2 Country context

2.1 PSR trends at national level

The evolution of PSRs in the workplace in Croatia over the past 20 years mirrors broader trends observed across the EU. This evolution has been influenced by changes in the working environment, legislation and a growing awareness of mental health issues. However, there is a lack of national data that provides insights into prevalent PSRs and how they have evolved across different economic sectors and groups of workers. However, the 2021 European Working Conditions Survey (EWCS), conducted by Eurofound, provides insights into PSRs in Croatia, and shows that the most prominent PSR in Croatia is work involving direct interaction with customers, pupils and patients (52%), followed by working at a very high speed (40%) (Eurofound, 2023).

Table 1: Health and wellbeing at work, Eurofound 2023 (%)

Psychosocial risk factors	EU	HR
Work involving dealing directly with customers, pupils and patients	47	52
Working at very high speed	49	40
Working to tight deadlines	49	35
Prevalence of unsocial working hours	32	34
Prevalence of work intensity	38	28
Difference between usual hours and expected hours per week (%, more hours than expected)	32	24
Exposure to emotionally disturbing situations	23	17
Job insecurity	12	16
Discrimination at work	12	13
Adverse social behaviours	15	13
Verbal abuse	11	9
Physical violence	7	7

Source: Eurofound, 2023

PSRs related to physical violence have been exacerbated by recent events, including **the COVID-19 pandemic**, rapid **digitalisation** and two major earthquakes that struck Croatia in 2020 (Löw et al., 2023;

Romic et al., 2021; Kadović et al., 2022). These factors significantly affected the mental health of the impacted populations, leading to prolonged stress, heightened anxiety and increased rates of depression (Kovačić Petrović et al., 2023). A recent mini-review (Koren et al., 2023) by Croatian authors has also identified PSRs related to the COVID-19 pandemic and digitalisation, such as the fear of contagion, isolation and stigmatisation, demands arising from rapid digitalisation, job insecurity, heightened risk of violence at work or home, and work–life imbalance, among others. Additionally, several local studies have highlighted that Croatian workers have experienced significant work-related stress (Kadović et al., 2022) and burn-out (Alexandrova-Karamanova et al., 2016). The workers most affected by the pandemic were healthcare workers.

In response to the COVID-19 crisis, EU-OSHA commissioned the 'Flash Eurobarometer – OSH Pulse' survey throughout 2022, focusing on occupational safety and health (OSH) in post-pandemic workplaces. The findings revealed that 38% of employees in Croatia reported an increase in work-related stress due to the pandemic, compared with the EU average of 44% (OSH Pulse, 2022).

The European Survey of Enterprises on New and Emerging Risks (ESENER 2019), another survey conducted by EU-OSHA, provides valuable insights into OSH management in workplaces in Croatia. The survey showed that the two most mentioned PSRs were having to deal with difficult customers, patients, pupils (56.5%) and pressure due to time constraints (38.5%). Compared to the European average (11.1%), fear of job loss was scoring a bit higher with 13.7%. The survey revealed that 15% of surveyed establishments reported having an action plan to prevent work-related stress — a much lower percentage than the EU average of 33%. Additionally, 58% of establishments had a procedure in place to handle potential cases of bullying or harassment (versus the EU average of 45%), and 45% had a procedure for addressing threats, abuse or assaults by customers, patients, pupils or other external parties in establishments with at least 20 employees (EU average 51%). Overall, these results highlight areas where Croatia is making progress, as well as aspects that require further attention to ensure a safer and healthier workplace environment, with the introduction of action plans to prevent work-related stress being the most pressing need.

To sum up, while trends in Croatia regarding the increase of PSRs are similar to those observed in other EU Member States, there remains a significant national data gap in identifying PSRs, vulnerable groups of workers and sectors. In terms of PSR management, compared to other EU Member States, Croatia needs to invest additional efforts in improvement, except in the case of addressing bullying and harassment in the workplace.

2.2 Main national stakeholders involved in OSH governance and PSR prevention

In Croatia, a wide range of stakeholders is involved in the design and implementation of policies and regulations on OSH. This section offers a brief description of the main actors, their roles and responsibilities.

The **Ministry of Labour, Pension System, Family and Social Policy** (Ministarstvo rada, mirovinskoga sustava, obitelji i socijalne politike) is the primary governmental body responsible for creating and enforcing regulations related to OSH. This ministry plays a key role in developing and implementing policies and laws aimed at ensuring safe and healthy working conditions, as adopted by the Government of the Republic of Croatia. Among its duties, the ministry oversees health protection and workplace safety and develops and implements national strategies and action plans in these areas. Additionally, the ministry monitors the enforcement of occupational health and safety laws through labour inspections to ensure compliance with these regulations in practice.

While the Ministry of Labour, Pension System, Family and Social Policy holds primary responsibility for regulating occupational safety, the **Ministry of Health** (Ministarstvo zdravstva) plays a critical role in addressing the health aspects of the working environment. Collaboration between these ministries is essential to ensure effective worker protection, as the duties of the Ministry of Health complement the work of the Ministry of Labour, Pension System, Family and Social Policy. Specifically, the Ministry of

Health's responsibilities include regulating health assessments for workers, promoting health programmes within workplaces, ensuring the prevention of factors contributing to PSRs (such as excessive workloads or poor management practices), and monitoring health issues that arise from workplace conditions, including PSRs, such as occupational diseases and accidents.

The National Council for Occupational Safety is another body that plays a significant role in enhancing the OSH system in the Republic of Croatia and undertakes tasks assigned to it by the government. It was established in 2000 as an advisory body to the government and comprises three representatives nominated by the Minister of Labour, Pension System, Family and Social Policy, as well as two employers' representatives and two workers' representatives, nominated by their respective representative associations (OG No. 27/2019). The council's primary duties include monitoring, analysing and evaluating the OSH system and policies, providing recommendations and proposing any necessary changes. Its work involves assessing the effects of the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OG No. 71/14, 118/14, 154/14, 94/18, 96/18), which is the main legislation governing OSH in Croatia, along with related implementing regulations and special laws. By monitoring the impact of these regulations on workplace safety and health, the council can propose adjustments to improve effectiveness and ensure alignment with international standards. Additionally, the council reviews and provides opinions on drafts of regulatory impact assessments and proposals for new regulations in the field of OSH.

The **Division for Occupational and Sports Medicine at the Croatian Institute of Public Health** covers a broad range of activities focused on monitoring and promoting workers' health. This includes maintaining detailed registries, for example, for occupational diseases, accidents at work and so on. Additionally, it is responsible for health surveillance and monitoring the exposure of specific worker groups throughout Croatia. It also coordinates and oversees the work of occupational medicine practices across the country, providing expert guidance and support. It plays an essential role in educating both the professional community and the general public on matters related to occupational health, offering valuable resources and raising awareness.

Moreover, the division conducts research and programme activities aimed at protecting workers' health and preserving their ability to work, including efforts to manage workplace stress. It provides professional support in drafting strategic and legal documents and offers expert opinions on workers' health protection. Its cooperation with both international and national institutions and participation in various projects highlight its commitment to enhancing workplace health and safety standards in Croatia (Division for Occupational and Sports Medicine, 2020). While the division's work primarily focuses on general OSH, it endeavours to incorporate PSR prevention and management into its efforts, by providing PSR counselling and support to workers among other things (see section 3.2).

One of the key bodies responsible for enforcing PSR legislation in Croatia is the **Labour Inspectorate**, which became part of the State Inspectorate in 2019 (OG No. 115/18, 117/21, 67/23, 155/23). The Labour Inspectorate is responsible for ensuring compliance with all regulations concerning OSH. The Labour Inspectorate's primary functions include enforcing legislation, conducting workplace inspections, investigating accidents, offering advisory services, promoting safe work practices and collaborating with other governmental bodies. However, there is a lack of publicly available data regarding its activities, particularly concerning the regulation of PSRs in practice. Since the Labour Inspectorate was integrated into the State Inspectorate in 2019, audit findings and other assessments have not been made publicly accessible.

The **social partners**, which include trade unions, employer organisations and professional associations, play a vital role in designing and implementing OSH legislation in Croatia. Their active involvement reflects the broader European practices of collaborative governance and underscores their importance in ensuring that workplace safety standards, including the management of PSRs, are effectively addressed. The social partners are frequently consulted during the drafting of laws and regulations related to OSH through the National Council for Occupational Safety.

Croatia's tripartite system, which brings together representatives from the government, employers and workers through various committees and councils, ensures that multiple perspectives are considered. This collaborative model allows the social partners to contribute recommendations and feedback on proposed laws and regulations, including those addressing PSRs. Once laws are enacted, the social partners continue to play an essential role in their implementation and monitoring. They disseminate

information about new regulations, provide compliance training for their members and assess the effectiveness of legislation in practice. This continuous feedback loop, whereby the social partners report on how laws function on the ground, facilitates legislative revisions and updates where necessary.

Beyond policy and legislation, the social partners engage in campaigns and initiatives aimed at raising awareness about workplace safety and the critical importance of addressing PSRs. They organise workshops, conferences and seminars to promote best practices in OSH, thereby fostering a proactive approach to worker protection. In addition, trade unions offer critical support to workers dealing with workplace safety issues and represent their interests in disputes related to safety and health concerns.

The **Croatian Health Insurance Fund** (HZZO) is another noteworthy stakeholder that oversees the mandatory health insurance system for all workers in Croatia. This fund plays a critical role in ensuring that every member of the workforce has access to healthcare services and work-related injuries and illness compensation. The health insurance system is financially supported through contributions from both employers and workers, with the majority of the financial burden falling on employers. Self-employed people are responsible for paying their own contributions.

Occupational health and sports medicine specialists, whose involvement is mandated for every workplace by the Occupational Safety and Health Act (Article 80) and the Ordinance on the Method and Procedure for Selecting Occupational Health Specialists (Official Gazette No. 12/14, 149/14, 53/17, 129/2017, 22/20), are unique stakeholders within Croatia's OSH system. Employers are responsible for selecting these specialists for their workers, while self-employed individuals select their own specialists. Typically, the selection of an occupational health and sports medicine specialist is based on the worker's place of employment. These specialists are responsible for examining and monitoring the health of workers who begin employment in roles classified as having special working conditions under Croatia's health protection and occupational safety regulations. They ensure that workers in potentially hazardous roles receive appropriate health evaluations and ongoing monitoring to safeguard their wellbeing and comply with safety standards. Additionally, they serve as part of the Employer's Occupational Safety Committee. Employers with 50 or more workers are required to establish such a committee, which acts as an advisory body dedicated to improving occupational safety (the Occupational Safety and Health Act). This committee is composed of the employer or an authorised representative, an occupational safety expert who oversees safety duties for the employer, an occupational medicine specialist selected in accordance with specific regulations, and a worker's representative for occupational safety or their coordinator. Together, these stakeholders collaborate to enhance workplace safety, identify risks, and implement effective safety and health measures, creating safer working environments for all employees.

3 Legislative and non-legislative measures

3.1 National legislative and strategic approaches to PSRs

3.1.1 National PSR legislation

Croatia's accession to the EU in 2013 marked a pivotal moment in aligning its workplace safety and health standards with those of the EU. Since then, Croatian OSH legislation has been harmonised with EU directives, including aspects related to managing PSRs. While specific legislation targeting PSRs is still evolving, the overarching framework provided by the EU has driven significant improvements in Croatian law.

The **Occupational Safety and Health Act** serves as the primary legal framework for ensuring safe and healthy working conditions in Croatia. While the Act, in force since 2014, does not explicitly mention PSRs, it does make reference to them through the identification of work-related stress and establishes a guiding principle for managing such stress in the workplace. Under this Act, work-related stress is defined in Article 51 as health and psychological changes resulting from prolonged exposure to stressors in the workplace, manifesting as physiological, emotional and cognitive reactions, as well as changes in worker behaviour. The Act recognises work-related stress as a critical OSH issue, placing primary responsibility on employers to prevent and manage it.

Employers are required to implement measures to prevent workplace stress. Although the Act does not specify which measures, it is more specific on the risk factors that should be looked at, such as work

content, work organisation, work environment, poor communication and interpersonal relations. Although there are no specific measures related to workplace stress, if signs of work-related stress are observed, employers must pay particular attention to aspects such as work organisation and procedures, including working hours, degree of autonomy, alignment between worker skills and job requirements, and workload. They must also consider working conditions and the environment, such as exposure to violent behaviour. Communication factors, including clarity of job expectations, job security prospects and information about upcoming changes, are also key areas of focus, along with subjective factors such as emotional and social pressures, feelings of powerlessness and perceived lack of support.

Employees, for their part, must follow their employer's instructions for preventing, eliminating or reducing work-related stress. Additionally, both workers and their representatives are expected to cooperate with employers in efforts to address workplace stress, fostering a collaborative approach to maintaining a healthy and supportive working environment.

The Croatian **Labour Act** (Official Gazette no. 137/2004) establishes general protections that have a significant impact on mental health, including measures against discrimination and unfair treatment, which are necessary for fostering a healthy and supportive working environment. By addressing issues such as equality and fair treatment, the Act contributes to employee protection from PSRs. Notably, the Labour Act adopted in 2014 also acknowledges PSRs with regard to night shift workers.

While primarily focused on regulating employment relations, the Labour Act also contains provisions relevant to safety and health protection at work. It outlines the rights and obligations of both employers and employees regarding working conditions, working hours, breaks and other factors that indirectly relate to PSRs and impact the safety and health of workers.

The 2023 revision (OG No. 93/14, 127/17, 98/19, 151/22, 46/23, 64/23) of the Labour Act introduced specific provisions for work carried out in alternative workplaces and for remote work. Work at an alternative workplace is defined as tasks performed outside the employer's premises and agreed on by both sides, such as from the worker's home or another location. Meanwhile, remote work is described as a specific type of work carried out using information and communication technology, where the employee and employer agree on the employee's right to independently determine their work location. This location can be flexible and subject to the worker's preference, which means that many of the occupational safety obligations applicable to employees working at alternative workplaces do not extend to those engaged in remote work. This distinction underscores the importance of adapting safety and health regulations to changing work arrangements, reflecting the diverse needs and risks associated with different types of work settings.

In Croatia, PSRs are formally recognised and described in two key legal acts that have significantly broadened the scope of PSRs in legislation: the **Ordinance on the Preparation of a Risk Assessment** (OG No. 112/14, 129/19) (issued in 2014 and updated in 2019), and the **Ordinance on the Protection at Work of Workers Exposed to Statodynamic, Psychophysiological, and Other Exertions at Work** (OG No. 73/2021) (enacted in 2021). While there is no official definition of PSRs in these documents, the ordinances contain lists and descriptions that outline what constitutes a PSR.

PSRs are referred to as 'psychophysiological strains' in the Ordinance on the Preparation of a Risk Assessment. The newer 2021 Ordinance further elaborates on these risks and introduces a new, detailed list of PSRs, categorising them into nine groups with a total of 27 distinct PSRs (see Annex 7.1). A notable difference in the 2021 Ordinance is its specific mention of work-related stress and the recognition that stress is a result of exposure to PSRs. This Ordinance also acknowledges new and emerging PSRs, such as job insecurity and challenges in balancing professional and private life, reflecting the changing nature of workplace PSRs.

In practice, both documents are essential for conducting workplace risk assessments and determining appropriate preventive measures. The Ordinance on the Preparation of a Risk Assessment primarily focuses on PSRs as they pertain to specific workplace conditions, with less emphasis on social dimensions. In contrast, the Ordinance on the Protection at Work of Workers Exposed to Statodynamic,

-

¹ 'Pravilnik o zaštiti na radu radnika izloženih statodinamičkim, psihofiziološkim i drugim naporima na radu' (NN 73/2021) [Ordinance on the protection at work of workers exposed to statodynamic, psychophysiological and other exertions at work], Articles 13 and 14 refer to PSR: https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2021_06_73_1375.html

Psychophysiological and Other Exertions at Work (2021) takes a more comprehensive approach. This Ordinance includes considerations such as mental workload, the social environment, interpersonal relations, respect for personal integrity, and the balance between professional and private life (see Annex 7.1). Experts interviewed emphasised the importance of these pieces of legislation for effective risk assessment and the implementation of preventive measures in workplaces.

3.1.2 Occupational diseases related to PSR exposure and mental health aspects

In Croatia, work-related health issues are classified into four main categories: occupational accidents, occupational diseases, work-related diseases, and diseases aggravated by work. However, official recognition is limited to occupational accidents and occupational diseases, which means that only these two categories can be formally reported to and acknowledged by the Croatian Institute of Public Health and are documented in the Registry of Accidents at Work or the Registry of Occupational Diseases. Recognition also makes affected individuals eligible for compensation from the Croatian Health Insurance Fund, such as salary compensation during temporary incapacity to work.

Occupational diseases

According to the Croatian Law on the List of Occupational Diseases (OG No. 107/07), an occupational disease is defined as a condition that is demonstrably caused by harmful exposure within the work process and/or work environment. It can also refer to diseases that are potentially linked to harmful effects arising from work activities or environments, where the intensity and duration of such exposure are at levels known to cause health damage. These diseases are primarily caused by physical, chemical or biological hazards encountered in the workplace, with PSRs not being included.

According to the list of occupational diseases in Croatia, there are instances where a mental illness caused by chemical exposure may be recognised as an occupational disease. For example, if an individual has been exposed to a neurotoxic substance that plausibly affects their mental health, it may be classified as an occupational disease. Similarly, if a worker is exposed to certain chemical substances listed as occupational hazards, such as lead, mercury or manganese, and subsequently develops a mental or psychiatric disorder known to be linked to such exposure, it could be officially acknowledged as an occupational disease. However, work-related stress, anxiety, depression and burn-out fall under the category of work-related diseases rather than occupational diseases. As such, they are not officially recognised or eligible for compensation under the current framework.

According to the Croatian Health Statistics Yearbook, 268,244 individuals aged 20-64 years were diagnosed with neurotic, stress-related and somatoform disorders (ICD F40-48) by family medicine services (Croatian Institute of Public Health, 2023). Two thousand of these diagnoses were made by occupational medical services. This large difference arises because occupational medical services focus solely on assessing workers in medium- and high-risk jobs, whereas family medicine services provide care for all workers regardless of their job risk level. The key distinction between a diagnosis from an occupational medical service and one from a general physician lies in the context in which it is made. These diagnoses do not automatically lead to compensation in either case. Even if a disorder is identified by occupational medical services, it does not imply that it is considered a work-related condition or that it qualifies for compensation.

Occupational accidents

Acute stress reaction (resulting from exposure to traumatic event) is recognised as an occupational accident, while post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and adjustment disorder can be a consequence or complication of the acute reaction to stress (in accordance with ESAW methodology (Eurostat, 2013)), making them eligible for compensation (HZJZ, 2022). This classification allows for the recognition of immediate physical injuries and certain acute stress-related reactions that occur as a result of workplace incidents. However, there are limited data available on such instances and how they have been addressed in Croatia.

3.1.3 National PSR strategy

Croatia's efforts to enhance workplace safety and health standards are embodied in several strategic frameworks and programmes developed over recent years. These strategic frameworks and programmes, which build upon one another, reflect Croatia's commitment to improving workplace conditions and ensuring the safety and health of all workers, while also addressing evolving challenges in mental health and occupational safety.

The aim of the **Strategic plan for the development of public health 2013-2015** (Ministarstvo zdravstva Republike Hrvatske, 2013) was to create a supportive environment for workers experiencing mental health disorders, such as depression. The plan focused on early intervention, education and fostering collaboration across various sectors to enhance Croatia's overall mental health infrastructure and support systems. Key stakeholders involved included the Croatian Institute of Public Health, regional public health Institutes, family doctors, occupational health specialists, visiting nurses and local government entities, among others. The plan also highlighted the preparation and implementation of anti-stress programmes and social skills initiatives for at-risk groups, particularly in workplace settings.

The National plan for labour, safety at work and employment 2021-2027 was adopted² in 2021 (OG No. 131/21). This strategic document outlines the government's priorities and proposed actions in the areas of labour, occupational safety and employment for the specified period. Its key objectives include improving labour market conditions, enhancing workplace safety standards and increasing employment opportunities. The plan has been developed by the Ministry of Health in collaboration with the social partners. It is informed by a range of documents at Croatian, EU and international levels, as well as by the National Development Strategy of the Republic of Croatia up to 2030. (OG No. 13/2021).

The National plan for labour, safety at work and employment 2021-2027 aims to decrease the occurrence of workplace accidents and occupational diseases by implementing improved safety measures and health monitoring systems. Recognising the importance of psychological wellbeing, the plan includes initiatives aimed at addressing mental health in the workplace, particularly in relation to the prevention and management of PSRs. It highlights that PSRs can be assessed and managed as effectively as other occupational risks, emphasising the need for proactive and planned approaches to mitigate potential problems. It further emphasises the role of the social partners, including trade unions, employers' organisations and government bodies, in implementing and monitoring the effectiveness of safety and health. Moreover, research referenced in the plan underscores the economic significance of these efforts, noting that PSRs and work-related stress impose substantial costs on employers and the health and pension systems. Accordingly, the plan advocates heightened attention to be paid to the prevention of PSRs, recognising this as a vital component of workplace safety and health strategies.

Its provisions include both strengthening the role of labour inspection and compliance mechanisms to ensure that safety and health regulations are adhered to across all sectors and also encouraging the adoption of new technologies and practices that can lead to safer and more health-conscious working environments. The national plan is designed not only to meet current safety and health challenges but also to adapt to future changes in working environments and labour market dynamics, ensuring that workplace safety and health standards continue to evolve and improve.

Strategic Development Framework for Mental Health until 2030 (Ministarstvo zdravstva, 2022) is an initiative designed to enhance Croatia's mental health care system. Its primary goals are to improve mental health services, raise awareness, and integrate mental health care into broader health and social service systems. The framework builds upon recommendations aligned with international and EU mental health strategies and seeks to meet the standards set by the World Health Organization (WHO) and the EU, while addressing specific challenges faced by Croatia's population (WHO, 2005, 2015, 2019; Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General, 2005; Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety, 2008; Official Journal of the European Union, 2001). Developed by the Croatian Ministry of Health in collaboration with experts in psychiatry, psychology, public health and other fields, the strategy aims to bring systematic improvements to mental health care.

European Agency for Safety and Health at Work – EU-OSHA

National plan for labour, safety at work and employment 2021-2027: <u>Decision on the Adoption of the National Plan for Labour, Safety at Work and Employment 2021-2027</u>, National Plan for Labour, Safety at Work and Employment 2021-2027

It establishes key objectives to be achieved by 2030, focusing on enhancing accessibility to mental health services, promoting service integration, raising awareness and preventing mental disorders, strengthening capacity, ensuring high-quality and safe care, and encouraging research and innovation. Central to the framework is the recognition of mental health in the workplace, acknowledging employment conditions, work environment and organisational factors as critical influences on mental wellbeing. It highlights that autonomy and participation in decision-making positively impact mental health, while routine jobs with limited control can be detrimental. Work-related stress is identified as a major determinant of mental health, with PSRs including excessive workloads, long hours, limited task control, insufficient social support, poor interpersonal relations, challenges in balancing work and family, job insecurity and workplace harassment. The framework also underscores the impact of unemployment, noting that it significantly raises the likelihood of depressive episodes among unemployed people compared with those who are employed.

A key focus is on creating healthy working environments that support mental wellbeing, reduce stress, and facilitate the reintegration of individuals with mental health challenges through tailored employment programmes. To achieve these goals, the framework proposes specific measures, such as developing programmes to address PSRs and mitigate outcomes such as work-related stress, with a particular emphasis on preventing burn-out and promoting work-life balance. Education and training for the social partners on the importance of healthy working conditions and their impact on mental health is another central component of this strategy (see Annex 7.2). With these initiatives, the framework seeks to identify and tackle workplace PSRs, enable early recognition of mental health issues, reduce stigma and preserve mental health through these targeted initiatives.

3.2 Measures supporting the implementation of PSR legislation

The implementation and promotion of legislation related to PSRs in the workplace in Croatia have been supported by various measures over the past two decades, with a particular emphasis on educational initiatives and the development of assessment tools. However, many of these measures have a focus on mental health protection and supporting the individual rather than on first creating a framework to prevent and manage PSRs in the workplace.

The **Division for Occupational and Sports Medicine at the Croatian Institute of Public Health**, particularly its department that focuses on PSRs, provides its own information to ensure the prevention and management of PSRs in the workplace. One of its key resources is an online platform³ that provides access to educational materials, such as leaflets, a PSR assessment questionnaire⁴ and proposed measures for PSR prevention in the workplace.⁵ Since 2017, the department has also conducted ongoing training sessions on PSRs and workplace stress for OSH professionals, workers and employers. These sessions address topics such as identifying and preventing workplace stress, coping strategies for stress in professional and personal contexts, and improving the wellbeing and quality of life post-pandemic. Notably, the department also provides assistance for workers experiencing psychological challenges after recovering from COVID-19. All interviewees involved in this area acknowledged these activities as valuable contributions.

The division has published guidelines in the form of a manual specifically designed to support risk assessment in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) and micro-sized enterprises (MSEs) (Richter et al., 2008). Available online, this manual outlines the essential requirements for assessing PSRs in the workplace. It provides general information on identifying and evaluating PSRs, offers a checklist to measure key risk factors — stress, mental fatigue, monotony and psychological saturation — and presents practical solutions to mitigate PSRs and workplace stress. The manual, originally developed in Germany, has been translated from German to ensure accessibility for Croatian employers and workers. By following the recommendations outlined in these guidelines, employers ensure compliance with relevant Croatian legislation on OSH.

Furthermore, the Croatian Institute of Public Health launched the 'Company Friend of Health' (Tvrtka prijatelj zdravlja) project initiative in 2019. While this project primarily adopts a health-promotion

³ Croatian Institute of Public Health - Department of Public Health, *Psychosocial risks*. https://www.hzzzsr.hr/index.php/psihosocijalni-rizici/

⁴ HZJZ, PSR questionnaire: https://www.hzzzsr.hr/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/HSE_dodana-skala-1.pdf

⁵ HZJZ, PSR prevention: https://www.hzzzsr.hr/index.php/psihosocijalni-rizici/mjere-prevencije/

approach, it also incorporates elements of mental health protection and PSR prevention. As an ongoing initiative, it forms part of the broader 'Healthy Living' project, which aims to improve health standards within companies by fostering a supportive working environment and encouraging healthy lifestyle practices.

For a company to earn the 'Company Friend of Health' label, it must meet specific criteria. The process begins with a visit from a team of experts from the Croatian Institute of Public Health who evaluate the company's working environment across seven key areas: worker health protection in the workplace, nutrition, promotion of physical activity, smoking bans, alcohol consumption bans, environment, and mental health. Following this evaluation, the project offers tailored training sessions for the company's employees, covering topics such as mental health in the workplace, substance abuse (including alcohol and gambling), and other health-related issues. The intensity and content of each educational module are customised to fit the needs of the specific company and the recommendations derived from the initial evaluation. After completing the evaluation and training process, the company receives the 'Company Friend of Health' certification, which is valid for two years. To maintain this designation, companies must undergo re-evaluation and demonstrate their continued commitment to health-promoting practices.

Another initiative, the **Mental Health Toolkit for Human Resources Managers in the Workforce** (MH4HRM)⁶, is an innovative project financed through the Erasmus+ programme, which began in December 2023. The initiative seeks to empower human resource (HR) departments and other stakeholders involved in workplace health protection by providing them with the necessary knowledge, skills and tools to effectively manage employees' mental health challenges.

The project's objectives include deepening awareness of the common mental health difficulties encountered in workplace settings (including those related to the use of digital tools), understanding their impact on work processes and the broader working environment, and providing actionable information to improve the management of these challenges within companies. Among other objectives, the approach includes training for HR managers to recognise PSRs and address mental health issues at an early stage.

The Croatian Institute of Public Health is a key partner in this project and is responsible for developing a 60-hour educational programme tailored for HR professionals and other stakeholders in workplace health protection. Key deliverables include the creation of a web and mobile platform, an online educational programme, and microlearning videos and podcasts focused on mental health in the workplace.

3.3 Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and digitalisation on approaches to PSRs

The recent COVID-19 pandemic has brought significant changes to work practices, including remote work and altered work environments, which have posed new challenges. The response to these challenges has intensified the conversation around mental health support and adaptive working conditions in Croatia, although tangible changes have been limited.

One of the most significant changes, as discussed in the chapter on national legislation, is the 2023 revision of the **Labour Act** (OG No. 151/22, Article 17, Article 17a, Article 17b) that introduced specific provisions to address the changing nature of remote work. These updates aimed to adapt to modern work practices, especially those influenced by the pandemic and digitalisation of work. The law now defines the terms under which remote work can be performed, emphasising a mutual agreement between employers and employees. It also ensures that employers remain responsible for safeguarding the safety and health of employees, even in a remote work setting. This includes providing adequate work equipment, adhering to regulations on maximum working hours and rest periods, and taking steps to prevent work-related illnesses and injuries at home.

The impact of the pandemic has gone beyond just legal provisions; it has reshaped perspectives on workplace mental health. According to one interviewee, the adoption of the **Strategic Development Framework for Mental Health up to 2030** was accelerated in part by the changing work organisation

_

⁶ https://www.hzzzsr.hr/index.php/vijesti/

brought on by the pandemic. The pandemic highlighted the importance of mental health and its protection in Croatian workplaces, leading Croatia to act on it by developing a new strategy. The need for greater awareness of PSRs drove all stakeholders to consider mental health more prominently in their workplace safety agendas. Interviewees emphasised that the most notable impact of the COVID-19 crisis has been a marked increase in awareness regarding mental health and PSRs in the workplace.

Overall, while the pandemic and digitalisation trends have catalysed shifts in Croatia's approach to PSRs, fostering greater recognition of mental health challenges, there is still room for improvement. Nevertheless, these adaptations represent important steps towards better legislative and organisational measures to protect workers' wellbeing in a changing work landscape.

3.4 PSR prevention activities implemented by social partners

As previously mentioned, the social partners in Croatia, including trade unions, employers' organisations and professional associations, play a significant role in the prevention and management of PSRs. Their involvement primarily centres on supporting the creation and implementation of legislation, facilitated through the country's tripartite system, and including the social partners as key members of the National Council for Safety at Work. However, the activities of the Croatian social partners are reported by interviewees to be less organised and more fragmented compared to some other EU Member States looked at within this overall study.

One interviewee reported that one of the most significant activities undertaken by the social partners was the signing of key EU sectoral social partner agreements on behalf of Croatia, namely the Framework Agreements on Work-related Stress (EU-OSHA, 2004) and Harassment and Violence at Work (EU-OSHA, 2007).

Beyond their legislative engagement, the social partners in Croatia are involved in various campaigns and activities aimed at promoting PSR prevention and awareness in the workplace. These activities include workshops, round-tables and seminars designed to educate both employers and employees about the potential impacts of workplace stress and other psychosocial strains. For example, the Croatian Employers' Association, one of the largest employer organisations in the country, has organised workshops focused on stress management and achieving a better work–life balance. Similarly, the Croatian Chamber of Commerce has conducted multiple workshops and webinars for its members on stress at work. In addition, the Croatian Chamber of Commerce is a partner in the Interreg Central Europe 2021–2027 project 'Burnout Prevent' (Hrvatska gospodarska komora, 2024), which only commenced in April 2024 and therefore detailed data on its outcomes are not yet available.

Trade unions are especially prevalent in Croatia, with a total of 636 (Ministarstvo rada, mirovinskoga sustava, obitelji i socijalne politike, 2025) registered unions actively engaged in various initiatives to address workplace challenges. These unions have organised numerous activities focused on mental health (Sindikat grafičara i medija), stress management (Sindikat državnih i lokalnih službenika i namještenika Republike Hrvatske, 2022; Hrvatski sindikat pošte, 2022; HST, 2024) and combatting workplace bullying. In 2024, the Women's Section of the Union of Autonomous Trade Unions of Croatia led targeted efforts to address workplace harassment against women (EU-OSHA, 2007). Additionally, the section collaborated with The Women's Network of Croatia and the Centre for Education, Consulting, and Research to formally request the Croatian government to strengthen protections and improve the position of women facing gender-based violence, abuse and sexual harassment in the workplace (SSSH, 2024).

These examples underscore the importance of the social dialogue and collaboration among the social partners in driving new initiatives and addressing overlooked areas in Croatia, such as the protection of vulnerable worker groups, including women.

_

⁷ Some examples of workshops can be found here: https://www.sdlsn.hr/upravljanje-stresom-na-radu/;
https://www.hgk.hr/zupanijska-komora-pula/odrzana-radionica-najava;
https://www.hgk.hr/besplatno-predavanje-na-temu-stres-na-rukovodecim-pozicijama-najava; <a href="https://https

4 Success factors and challenges addressing PSRs

4.1 Assessment of the impact of PSR measures on PSRs

There are currently no comprehensive evaluations in Croatia to assess the impact of measures and policies aimed at addressing PSRs, and academic research on their effectiveness remains very limited. Consequently, this chapter relies on insights gathered from the interviews with stakeholders, who shed light on the impact of PSR prevention measures.

One of the most significant developments in recent years that has had a major impact on Croatia is the **increased recognition of PSRs in national legislation**. According to the representative from the National Council for Safety at Work, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Ordinance on the Preparation of a Risk Assessment, and the Ordinance on the Protection at Work of Workers Exposed to Statodynamic, Psychophysiological, and Other Exertions at Work have collectively raised awareness and **prompted employers to take PSRs more seriously**. This legislative framework has led to an increased focus on the implementation of stress prevention measures by employers.

Action plans and national strategies, such as the Strategic Development Framework for Mental Health up to 2030 and the National plan for labour, safety at work and employment 2021-2027, were highlighted by interviewees as significant steps towards a more comprehensive approach to PSR prevention in Croatia. According to one interviewee, these strategies help ensure ongoing efforts to improve workplace environments and protect workers from PSRs, thereby **making changes more sustainable over time**. While there is still work to be done to ensure that PSR measures are better implemented across all workplaces in Croatia, such action plans and national strategies represent a positive step in the right direction.

According to two interviewees, these legal changes and implementation of action plans and strategies were influenced significantly by the shifts brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic and digitalisation of work, which underscored the critical importance of mental health. Since then, Croatia's policy landscape has begun to develop to better address these issues. This is particularly evident in the inclusion of provisions for remote work within the revised Labour Act, reflecting a broader awareness of changing work dynamics and the necessity to adapt policies to meet emerging psychosocial and occupational health needs, especially in a remote working environment.

With regard to measures, although the interviewed stakeholders did not mention any concrete implementation measures, they emphasised the importance of training programmes, workshops and seminars conducted by the Croatian Institute of Public Health (OSH department) and the social partners. According to them, these initiatives play a crucial role in **raising awareness and helping employers take the first steps in their organisations to address PSRs** and enhance worker safety. Educational activities and seminars also facilitate the exchange of good practices, which is especially valuable for employers across Croatia who may still lack the knowledge and practical understanding of how to implement PSR-related legislation at company level. An interviewee from the Croatian Institute of Public Health highlighted that the most impactful measures are those that address the root causes of PSRs, rather than just treating their symptoms.

Overall, Croatia is still in the early stages of integrating PSRs as a significant component of its national policy approach and making PSR prevention and management a routine aspect of workplace life. However, progress is evident through legislative changes, implementation strategies and practical measures aimed at raising awareness and fostering safer, more supportive working environments. These changes are gradually paving the way for a more inclusive approach to addressing PSRs in Croatian workplaces, setting the groundwork for long-term improvements and a cultural shift in how PSRs are managed and prioritised.

4.2 Assessment of success factors and challenges

This section explores the success factors and challenges associated with the legislative and non-legislative measures aimed at addressing work-related PSRs and mental health issues. The insights provided below were mostly obtained through stakeholder interviews and thus reflect the different experiences and views of different stakeholders.

At national level, Croatia's legislative framework on occupational health and safety establishes a foundational structure for managing PSRs. While it represents a step in the right direction, interviewed stakeholders expressed concerns that the **current legislation remains general and insufficiently** tailored to fully address the specific and changing nature of PSRs.

A significant challenge identified is the absence of a precise, legally recognised **definition of PSRs**. One interviewee explained that although a theoretical definition — based on Cox and Griffiths' seminal work from the 1990s — is used in educational and training contexts, it is not formally incorporated into Croatian law. This gap leaves too much room for interpretation, potentially putting workers at a disadvantage while giving employers considerable leeway in determining which PSR they choose to address, and how, within their organisation.

On a more positive note, the **inclusion of a list of PSRs in national legislation** has been acknowledged as a successful step in Croatia's approach to addressing these risks in the workplace. This list provides a more concrete framework for identifying and categorising PSRs, raising awareness among employers and helping to shape workplace interventions. However, OSH experts stress the need to build further on this progress. Specifically, they advocate the inclusion of mental health issues caused by PSRs in the official list of occupational diseases, making them eligible for compensation. Without this level of recognition, the list's potential impact remains limited, and the opportunity to fully support affected employees is not realised.

The lack of clarity and specificity of legislation often leads organisations to overlook or deprioritise the management of PSRs, as they may perceive existing regulations as inadequate or unclear in covering these risks comprehensively. Therefore, the **practical implementation** of the legislation remains a major challenge.

According to one interviewee, while the introduction of stress-related provisions within the Occupational Safety and Health Act has led some employers to initiate stress prevention activities, the level of engagement varies widely. Larger and more ambitious companies tend to pay closer attention and invest more resources into these measures, while others merely document their efforts. Even among the more enthusiastic companies, interest often wanes due to the absence of effective monitoring and enforcement mechanisms. This lack of consistent application is particularly prevalent in SMEs.

Training and education initiatives for OSH professionals, employers and workers have met with some success in raising awareness and understanding of PSRs. However, there remains a critical need to complement these efforts with more practical tools to facilitate real change in the workplace. According to the representative of the Croatian Institute of Public Health, an OSH expert and the employers' association representative, in order to achieve more comprehensive implementation, employers, particularly at the level of SMEs, require concrete support, including guidance on how to implement PSR prevention measures effectively to encourage their adoption. SMEs face substantial obstacles in implementing PSR prevention measures due to limited resources, in terms of both personnel and finances. According to one interviewee, this makes them heavily reliant on external support. Improving access to information on the benefits of PSR prevention and management, such as enhanced worker satisfaction and reduced turnover, is also crucial for engaging these smaller organisations.

Moreover, the reach of existing measures is limited due to many initiatives not extending beyond Croatia's largest cities.

Additionally, according to one interviewee, there is a pressing need for measures that are specifically tailored to the unique needs of different sectors and vulnerable worker groups in Croatia. While some sectors, such as IT and healthcare, are more prominent and thus benefit from more extensive measures and greater policy-level awareness, other sectors remain underrepresented.

The effective **involvement of various stakeholders is crucial** in creating legislation and implementation measures that address the diverse needs of the workforce. Employer representation from different sectors is essential to reflect their specific challenges. However, one interviewee noted that while there is a system that recognises the social partners and involves them in legislative processes through working groups, this process has recently become less effective. **Rather than fostering genuine dialogue, the involvement of the social partners often seems more about fulfilling procedural obligations**. Stakeholders reported that they are theoretically included in

discussions on drafting laws and bylaws but, in practice, they are frequently limited to commenting on predetermined solutions, with little opportunity for real engagement or influence. Moreover, smaller enterprises often lack robust representation.

This lack of a meaningful dialogue presents a challenge to creating effective and sector-specific PSR prevention measures. True collaboration and active participation from the social partners are critical to developing policies that reflect the needs of different sectors and worker groups, ensuring that no one is left behind in PSR management and workplace safety efforts.

Another major barrier to putting legislation into practice, as already mentioned, is the lack of enforcement. There is a **lack of tailored risk assessment tools** specifically designed to address PSRs, as well as **limited enforcement measures**. Several interviewees emphasised the need for **better involvement of labour inspectors**. Furthermore, they stated that the number of labour inspectors is insufficient to cover the entire country effectively. One interviewee also suggested that inspectors should have clear indicators that are also communicated to companies to be able to identify problematic situations within companies.

Another challenge that was mentioned is the **lack of mandatory participation of occupational health specialists and occupational psychologists in risk assessments**. Currently, occupational health specialists and occupational psychologists are only included in these assessments if an employer chooses to involve them. According to interviewees, the involvement of these specialists has been proven to be beneficial, as their expertise significantly enhances the depth and accuracy of risk assessments. Their specialised knowledge allows for a more targeted and comprehensive approach to PSR prevention, helping to identify, mitigate and manage PSRs more effectively.

The final challenge identified during the interviews is the **lack of comprehensive national data**. One interviewee emphasised that more data would enable stakeholders, including employers, government bodies and the social partners, to identify trends, assess the impact of PSRs on workers and implement tailored strategies that address sector-specific challenges. For example, data on stress-related sick leave or cases of mobbing could provide valuable insights into which industries and worker groups are most affected, guiding resources and preventive measures to where they are needed the most.

Moreover, the challenges identified in Croatia's legislative and non-legislative approaches to PSRs also highlight a broader issue: a **focus on promoting mental health and individual-level interventions** rather than on structural or organisational changes. For example, initiatives such as the 'Company Friend of Health' certification primarily emphasise mental health promotion through workshops, counselling and awareness campaigns targeting individual workers. While these efforts are valuable, they can unintentionally shift responsibility for managing PSRs onto employees rather than addressing systemic issues, such as work organisation or management practices that contribute to workplace stress.

Overall, Croatia has made progress in recognising and addressing PSRs in the workplace through its legislative framework and the inclusion of PSRs in national policies. However, stakeholders note that current legislation remains general, lacks a precise legal definition of PSRs and leaves room for inconsistent implementation. Effective monitoring, tailored risk assessment tools, support for SMEs and meaningful engagement with the social partners are necessary to ensure the widespread adoption of PSR measures. Comprehensive data collection on PSRs is also critical for creating evidence-based policies and targeted interventions.

5 Conclusions

In conclusion, while grappling with a rise in work-related PSRs, Croatia has made notable progress over the past decade in tackling PSR prevention and management in the workplace in strategies and national approaches. The increased awareness of workplace mental health challenges, driven largely by the COVID-19 pandemic and digitalisation, has underscored the necessity of an open dialogue on mental health and more targeted legislation to address PSRs. Croatia's legislative measures, supported by non-legislative tools and resources, provide the foundation to start this process. However, continued efforts are needed to refine, adapt and implement these measures effectively to ensure they create meaningful and widespread impacts.

The incorporation of PSRs into key legislative acts, notably the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 2014 and related ordinances, has laid the groundwork for recognising PSRs as legitimate workplace concerns. This legal framework has compelled employers and other stakeholders to address PSRs. Nevertheless, interviewed stakeholders suggest that merely having laws in place does not ensure their effective implementation. Moreover, some stakeholders mention that some aspects of emerging challenges related to digitalisation could be addressed more comprehensively. Collecting **robust data** is also important to ensure that legislation is in tune with PSR trends and challenges in Croatia.

A key step forward has been the mandatory inclusion of PSRs in workplace risk assessments, prompting employers to take these risks more seriously. However, it seems that the quality and depth of these assessments often vary, with a tendency for larger companies to conduct more comprehensive evaluations and implement stronger prevention measures. SMEs, on the other hand, frequently seem to lack the resources and expertise to implement effective PSR strategies. Therefore, **targeted support for SMEs and simplified tools are essential** to bridge the gap in PSR management.

With regard to the situation of occupational diseases, the lack of mental health diagnoses such as anxiety, depression and burn-out, being recognised as occupational diseases does not give any possibilities for workers to claim compensation due to respective PSR exposure in the workplace and its consequences.

A notable challenge lies in the current **focus on mental health promotion and individual-level interventions**, such as counselling and workshops. While these efforts are valuable for raising awareness, they do not adequately address structural and organisational factors contributing to PSRs as required by law. The individual focus fails in sufficiently tackling systemic issues such as workload management, organisational culture or workplace policies.

According to interviewees, the **involvement of occupational health specialists and occupational psychologists** in risk assessments has proven beneficial where it has been implemented. Unfortunately, their participation is not mandatory for all assessments, which represents a missed opportunity. The inclusion of their expertise would significantly enhance the quality and effectiveness of PSR prevention strategies across diverse workplaces.

In terms of enforcement, **providing labour inspectors with sufficient personnel and resources** is crucial to ensure that legislation translates into meaningful workplace practices. Enhanced enforcement would ensure consistent implementation of PSR measures throughout Croatia.

Engaging multiple stakeholders and **fostering social dialogue** is one of the most critical factors in promoting the uptake of PSR legislation and policies. Social dialogue plays a key role in improving the relevance and acceptance of PSR measures and ensuring that the needs of different sectors and vulnerable worker groups are addressed. Trade unions and employer organisations have been instrumental in raising awareness and advocating better working conditions. To further improve social dialogue, it is essential to **ensure that the participation of the social partners in decision-making processes is not merely a formality but that their opinions are genuinely taken into consideration**. Additionally, it is vital to **ensure the robust representation of smaller enterprises**, whih are often overlooked in such discussions.

Through continued refinement, engagement and targeted support, Croatia can build on its progress and further strengthen its approach to preventing and managing PSRs, ultimately creating healthier and more supportive workplaces.

6 List of references

Alexandrova-Karamanova, A., Todorova, I., Montgomery, A., Panagopoulou, E., Costa, P., Baban, A., Davas, A., Milosevic, M., & Mijakoski, D. (2016). Burnout and health behaviors in health professionals from seven European countries. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 89(7), 1059-1075. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-016-1143-5

- Barac, A., Krnjaic, P., Vujnovic, N., Matas, N., Runjic, E., Rogoznica, M., Markic, J., & Jelicic Kadic, A. (2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on resident physicians: A cross-sectional study. *Work*, 69(3), 751-758. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-205253
- Compulsory Health Insurance Act Zakon o obaveznom zdravstvenom osiguranju (Official Gazette, no. 80/13, 137/13, 98/19 and 33/23).
- Criminal Code. Kazneni zakon (Official Gazette 144/12, article 133.). Available at: https://www.zakon.hr/z/98/Kazneni-zakon
- Digital Skills & Jobs Platform (2022). *Croatia National Development Strategy 2030*. Available at: https://digital-skills-jobs.europa.eu/en/actions/national-initiatives/national-strategies/croatia-national-development-strategy-2030
- Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2023). *Statistical information 2023*. Available at: https://podaci.dzs.hr/media/t4jbehpz/stat-info-2023.pdf
- Croatian Institute of Public Health Department of public health *Psychosocial risks*. Available at: https://www.hzzzsr.hr/index.php/psihosocijalni-rizici/
- Croatian Institute of Public Health (2023). *Croatian Health Statistics Yearbook 2022*. Available at: https://www.hzjz.hr/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/HZSLj-2022.pdf
- Decision on the Basis for Concluding Contracts on the Implementation of Specific Health Care. Odluka o izmjenama i dopunama Odluke o osnovama za sklapanje ugovora o provođenju specifične zdravstvene zaštite (Official Gazette No. 47/14, 157/14, 139/15, 28/16, 26/17, 132/2017, 119/2018, 32/2019, 128/19, 22/20, 147/20).
- Division for Occupational and Sports Medicine (2020). *Work program for 2020*. Available at: https://www.hzzzsr.hr/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/PROGRAM-sluzbe-medicine-rada-2020.pdf
- Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety (2008). *European pact for mental health and well-being*. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_determinants/life_style/mental/docs/pact_en.pdf
- Eurofound (2023). *European Working Conditions Telephone Survey 2021*. Available at: https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/en/data-catalogue/european-working-conditions-telephone-survey-2021-0
- EU-OSHA European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, *Framework agreement on work-related stress*, 2004. Available at: https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/guidelines/framework-agreement-work-related-stress
- EU-OSHA European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, *Framework agreement on harassment and violence at work*, 2007. Available at:

 https://osha.europa.eu/en/legislation/guidelines/framework-agreement-harassment-and-violence-work
- EU-OSHA European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, *Third European Survey of Enterprises* on New and Emerging Risks (ESENER 2019): Overview Report How European workplaces manage safety and health, 2019. Available at: https://osha.europa.eu/sites/default/files/esener-2019-overview-report.pdf
- EU-OSHA European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, *Croatia: OSH Pulse 2022: OSH in post-pandemic workplaces*, 2022. Available at: https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/croatia-osh-pulse-2022-osh-post-pandemic-workplaces

- EUR-Lex (2008). Community Strategy 2007-2012 of health and safety at work. Available at:

 https://eur-lex.europa.eu/EN/legal-content/summary/community-strategy-on-health-and-safety-at-work-2007-2012.html
- European Council (1978). Council Directive 78/610/EEC of 29 June 1978 on the approximation of the laws of the Member States on the protection of health of workers exposed to vinyl chloride monomer. Official Journal of the European Communities, L197, 12–15. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A31978L0610
- European Council (1983). Council Directive 83/477/EEC of 19 September 1983 on the protection of workers from the risks related to exposure to asbestos at work. Official Journal of the European Communities, L263, 25–32. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31983L0477
- European Council (1989). Council Directive 89/655/EEC of 30 November 1989 concerning the Minimum Safety and Health Requirements for the Use of Work Equipment by Workers at Work. Official Journal of the European Communities, L393, 13–17. Available at: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31989L0655
- European Council (1990). Council Directive 90/270/EEC of 29 May 1990 on the minimum safety and health requirements for work with display screen equipment. Official Journal of the European Communities, L156, 14–18. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/dir/1990/270/oj
- Eurostat (2013). European Statistics on Accidents at Work (ESAW) Summary methodology 2013 edition. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-manuals-and-guidelines/-/KS-RA-12-102
- Golubic, R., Milosevic, M., Knezevic, B., & Mustajbegovic, J. (2009). Work-related stress, education and work ability among hospital nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *65*(10), 2056-2066. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05057.x
- Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General (2005). Green Paper Improving the mental health of the population: Towards a strategy on mental health for the European Union.

 Available at:
 https://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_determinants/life_style/mental/green_paper/mental_gp_en.pdf
- Hrvatska gospodarska komora (2024). Burnout prevent. Available at: https://hgk.hr/burnout-prevent
- Hrvatski sindikat pošte (2022). *Upravljanje stresom na radu*. Available at: https://sindikat-hsp.hr/upravljanje-stresom-na-radu/
- HST Hrvatski sindikat telekomunikacija (2024). Stres i mozak vježbe za ublažavanje stresa. Available at: https://www.hst.hr/pravni-savjeti/zastita-na-radu/stres-i-mozak-vjezbe-za-ublazavanje-stresa
- HZJZ (2022). *Analiza ozljeda na radu za 2022*. godinu, (NN 80/13 i 137/13 i 15/18). Available at: https://www.hzzzsr.hr/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/Analiza-ozljeda-na-radu-za-2022.pdf
- Kadović, M., Mikšić, Š., & Lovrić, R. (2022). Ability of Emotional Regulation and Control as a Stress Predictor in Healthcare Professionals. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(1), 541. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20010541
- Knezevic, B., Milosevic, M., Golubic, R., Belosevic, L., Russo, A., & Mustajbegovic, J. (2011). Work-related stress and work ability among Croatian university hospital midwives. *Midwifery*, *27*(2), 146-153. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2009.04.002
- Koren, H., Milaković, M., Bubaš, M., Bekavac, P., Bekavac, B., Bucić, L., Čvrljak, J., Capak, M., & Jeličić, P. (2023). Psychosocial risks emerged from COVID-19 pandemic and workers' mental health. *Frontiers in Psychology, 14*, 1148634. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1148634

- Kovačić Petrović, Z., Peraica, T., Blažev, M., Tomašić, L., & Kozarić-Kovačić, D. (2023). Quality of Life During the First Three Waves of the COVID-19 Pandemic and Two Earthquakes in Croatia. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 211*(12), 919-926. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0000000000001660
- Labour Act. *Zakon o radu* (final purified text version). Available at: https://www.zakon.hr/z/307/Zakon-o-radu
- Labour Act. Zakon o radu (64/23) article 17. Available at: https://www.zakon.hr/z/307/Zakon-o-radu
- Law on State Inspectorate. Zakon o državnom inspektoratu (O.G. No. 115/2018). Available at: https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2018 12 115 2243.html
- Law on the List of Occupational Diseases, Zakon o listi profesionalnih bolesti (O.G. No. 107/07). Available at: https://www.zakon.hr/z/1395/Zakon-o-listi-profesionalnih-bolesti
- Löw, A., Lotar Rihtarić, M., & Vrselja, I. (2023). Resource loss, coping strategies and post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms in survivors of the 2020 Croatia earthquake. *BMC Psychology*, 11(1), 128. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-023-01176-5
- Mijakoski, D., Atanasovska, A., Bislimovska, D., Brborović, H., Brborović, O., Cvjeanov Kezunović, L., Milošević, M., Minov, J., Önal, B., Pranjić, N., Rapas, L., Stoleski, S., Vangelova, K., Žaja, R., Bulat, P., Milovanović, A., & Karadžinska-Bislimovska, J. (2023). Associations of burnout with job demands/resources during the pandemic in health workers from Southeast European countries. *Frontiers in Psychology, 14*, 1258226. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1258226
- Ministarstvo rada, mirovinskoga sustava, obitelji i socijalne politike (a). *Uprava za rad i zaštitu na radu*. Available at: https://mrosp.gov.hr/o-ministarstvu/uprava-za-rad-i-zastitu-na-radu/4111
- Ministarstvo rada, mirovinskoga sustava, obitelji i socijalne politike (b). *Nacionalno vijeće*. Available at: https://uznr.mrms.hr/nacionalno-vijece-znr/
- Ministarstvo rada, mirovinskoga sustava, obitelji i socijalne politike (2016). *Seminar o zaštiti na radu za metalce*. Available at: https://uznr.mrms.hr/seminar-o-zastiti-na-radu-za-metalce/
- Ministarstvo zdravstva. O Ministarstvu. Available at: https://zdravlje.gov.hr/o-ministarstvu/9
- Ministarstvo zdravstva Republike Hrvatske (2013) Strategic plan for the development of public health 2013-2015. Available at: http://www.hzzzsr.hr/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Strateski-plan-javnog-zdravstva-2013-2015.pdf
- Ministarstvo zdravstva (2022). Strateški okvir razvoja mentalnog zdravlja do 2030 Strategic development framework mental health until 2030. Available at:

 https://zdravlje.gov.hr/UserDocsImages/2022%200bjave/STRATE%C5%A0KI%20OKVIR%20

 RAZVOJA%20MENTALNOG%20ZDRAVLJA%20DO%202030..pdf
- National Development Strategy of the Republic of Croatia until 2030 (O.G. No. 13/2021). Available at: https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2021_02_13_230.html
- Nacionalni plan za rad, zaštitu na radu i zapošljavanje za razdoblje od 2021 2027. *National plan for labour*, *safety at work and employment 2021-2027*. Available at:

 https://mrosp.gov.hr/UserDocsImages/dokumenti/Glavno%20tajni%C5%A1tvo/Godi%C5%A1nji%20planovi%20i%20strate%C5%A1ka%20izvje%C5%A1%C4%87a/26.11.Prijedlog%20Nacionalnog%20plana.pdf
- Odluka o osnivanju Nacionalnog vijeća za zaštitu na radu (O.G. No. 27/2019). Available at: https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2019 03 27 548.html

- Official Journal of the European Union (2011). Council conclusions on 'The European Pact for Mental Health and Well-being: results and future action'. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=OJ:C:2011:202:FULL&from=SK
- Ordinance on the Method and Procedure for Selecting Occupational Health Specialists. Pravilnik o načinu i postupku izbora doktora specijaliste medicine rada (Official Gazette No. 12/14, 149/14, 53/17, 129/2017, 22/20).
- Puhanić, P., Erić, S., Talapko, J., & Škrlec, I. (2022). Job Satisfaction and Burnout in Croatian Physiotherapists. *Healthcare*, *10*(5), 905. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare10050905
- Republika Hrvatska. *Injury at work / occupational disease short-term benefits*. Available at: https://mss.gov.hr/health/injury-at-work-occupational-disease-short-term-benefits/131
- Richter, G., Gruber, H., Friesenbichler, H., Uscilowska, A., Jancurova, L., & Konova, D. (2008). Psychological workload – guidelines for risk assessment in small to medium enterprises. Available at: http://www.hzzzsr.hr/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Psihi%C4%8Dko optere%C4%87enje poslom.pdf
- Romic, I., Silovski, H., Mance, M., Pavlek, G., Petrovic, I., Figl, J., Grbavac, D., Moric, T., Romic, R., Bakula, B., & Vulic, A. (2021). Psychological Effects of 'Double Crisis' (COVID-19 Pandemic and Earthquakes) on Croatian Medical Students. *Psychiatria Danubina*, *33*(Suppl 10), 120-125.
- Ordinance on the preparation of a risk assessment. Pravilnik o izradi procjene rizika (NN 112/14, 129/19). Available at: https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2014 09 112 2154.html
- Ordinance on jobs with special working conditions. Pravilnik o poslovima s posebnim uvjetima rada (Official Gazette No. 5/84).
- Ordinance on the protection at work of workers exposed to statodynamic, psychophysiological and other exertions at work. Pravilnik o zaštiti na radu radnika izloženih statodinamičkim, psihofiziološkim i drugim naporima na radu (NN 73/2021). Available at: https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2021 06 73 1375.html
- Sindikat državnih i lokalnih službenika i namještenika Republike Hrvatske (2022). *Nacionalni dan zaštite na radu: Brinite o sebi!* Available at: https://www.sdlsn.hr/nacionalni-dan-zastite-na-radu-brinite-o-sebi/
- Sindikat grafičara i medija, Mentalno zdravlje na radnom mjestu. Available at: https://www.sgim.hr/mentalno-zdravlje-na-radnom-mjestu/6238/
- SSSH Savez samostalnih sindikata Hrvatske (2024). *Sigurne na radnom mjestu, slobodne od zlostavljanja*. Available at: https://www.sssh.hr/novost/sigurne-na-radnom-mjestu-slobodne-od-zlostavljanja
- Tatalović Vorkapić, S., & Mustapić, J. (2012). Internal and external factors in professional burnout of substance abuse counsellors in Croatia. *Annali dell'Istituto superiore di sanita, 48*(2), 189-197. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4415/ANN-12-02-12
- The Occupational Safety and Health Act. Zakon o zaštiti na radu (NN 71/14). Available at: https://mrosp.gov.hr/UserDocsImages/dokumenti/Uprava%20za%20rad/ohs-act.pdf
- The Ordinance on Jobs Where a Worker Can Work Only After Previous and Regular Determination of Health Capacity. Pravilnik o poslovima na kojima radnik može raditi samo nakon prethodnog i redovnog utvrđivanja zdravstvene sposobnosti. (Official Gazette No. 70/2010).
- Tomljenovic, M., Kolaric, B., Stajduhar, D., & Tesic, V. (2014). Stress, depression and burnout among hospital physicians in Rijeka, Croatia. *Psychiatria Danubina*, 26(Suppl 3), 450-458.

- Živjeti zdravo. *Tvrtka prijatelj zdravlja*. Available at: https://zivjetizdravo.eu/o-projektu-tvrtka-prijatelj-zdravlja/
- WHO World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe (2005). *Mental Health Action Plan for Europe: Facing the Challenges, Building Solutions*. WHO European Ministerial Conference on Mental Health: Facing the Challenges, Building Solutions: Helsinki, Finland, 12–15 January 2005. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. Available at: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/349859
- WHO World Health Organization (2013). *WHO Global Plan of Action on Workers' Health (2008-2017)*. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-FWC-PHE-2013-02
- WHO World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe (2015). *The European Mental Health Action Plan 2013–2020. World Health Organization*. Regional Office for Europe. Available at: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/175672
- WHO World Health Organization (2019). *Improving health systems and services for mental health*. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241598774
- Žuljević, M. F., Jeličić, K., Viđak, M., Đogaš, V., & Buljan, I. (2021). Impact of the first COVID-19 lockdown on study satisfaction and burnout in medical students in Split, Croatia: a cross-sectional presurvey and postsurvey. *BMJ Open, 11*(6), e049590. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-049590

The European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (EU-OSHA) contributes to making Europe a safer, healthier and more productive place to work. The Agency researches, develops, and distributes reliable, balanced, and impartial safety and health information and organises pan-European awareness raising campaigns. Set up by the European Union in 1994 and based in Bilbao, the Agency brings together Spain, representatives from the European Commission, Member State governments, employers' and workers' organisations, as well as leading experts in each of the EU Member States and beyond.

European Agency for Safety and Health at Work

Santiago de Compostela 12 48003 Bilbao, Spain

E-mail: information@osha.europa.eu

